No. 89603-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

**WILLIAM E. WALL, ESTATE OF JAMES H. JACK by and
through its Personal Representatives, SHARON A. JACK and
LINDA R. LEIBICH,**

Appellants,

v.

**THE STATE OF WASHINGTON acting by and through the
WASHINGTON STATE LEGISLATURE and JAMES McINTYRE,
Treasurer of the State of Washington; BRIAN SONTAG, Auditor of
the State of Washington; and BRAD FLAHERTY, Director of the
Dept. of Revenue, State of Washington,**

Respondents.

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Frank R. Siderius
SIDERIUS LONERGAN & MARTIN, LLP
500 Union Street, Suite 847
Seattle, WA 98101
206/624-2800
206/624-2805 (fax)

Received 
Washington State Supreme Court

APR 15 2014

A. IDENTITY OF APPELLANTS

Appellant, William E. Wall (Wall), is a citizen of the State of Washington and a taxpayer. Appellant, Estate of James H. Jack by and through its Personal Representatives, Sharon A. Jack and Linda R. Leibich, is an estate taxpayer, having paid Washington State Estate Tax.

B. INTRODUCTION

Appellants seek direct review of the Order on Motions for Summary Judgment and Plaintiffs' Motion for Reconsideration made and entered on November 8, 2013, by Erik D. Price, Judge of the Superior Court for Thurston County.

The Order dismissed Appellants' constitutional challenge to diversion of estate tax funds from the Education Legacy Trust Account to the State General Fund as part of a budget and appropriations legislation.

Respondents transferred \$67 million from the Education Legacy Trust Account to the General Fund in violation of the Washington State Constitution as more fully set forth herein.

C. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Did the trial court err in ruling that the Legislature's diversion of \$67 million from the Education Legacy Trust Account to the State

General Fund in 2009 was permissible under both Article VII, Section 5 and Article II, Section 9 of the Washington Constitution?

2. Did the trial court err in ruling that while money cannot be diverted from the object of the estate tax under Article VII, Section 5 of the Washington Constitution, the Legislature can change the object of the tax by an amendment to budget and appropriations legislation?

3. Did the trial court err in ruling that a statutorily based tax, such as the estate tax should be distinguished from a constitutionally created tax for purposes of avoiding the plain language of Article VII, Section 5 of the Washington Constitution?

4. Did the trial court err in ruling that the 2008 amendment to RCW 83.100.230 in the budget and appropriations legislative process satisfies the “state distinctly” requirement of Article VII, Section 5 of the Washington Constitution?

5. Did the trial court err in ruling that the Legislature’s explicit statement of intent in enacting the estate tax to provide education funding can be meaningfully broadened to embrace general fund programs?

6. Did the trial court err in holding that the 2008 amendment to RCW 83.100.230 by a last minute provision buried in a budget and

appropriations bill did not violate Article VII, Section 5 of the Washington Constitution which provides in part that “every law imposing a tax shall *state distinctly* the object of the same *to which only it shall be applied*”? (Emphasis added.)

7. Did the trial court err in ruling that the Legislature had plenary power to legislatively divert estate tax proceeds to the state’s General Fund?

8. Did the trial court err in ruling that the authority of the 2008 Legislature to change the act of a previous legislature would be weakened by allowing plaintiffs’ constitutional challenge to the action of the Legislature in purportedly changing the object of the estate tax in budget and appropriations legislation?

9. Did the trial court err in ruling that the 2008 amendment of RCW 83.200.230, purportedly changing the object of the estate tax, was not substantive legislation placed in a budget and appropriations bill in violation of Article II, Section 19 of the Washington Constitution?

10. Did the trial court err in its analysis of Article II, Section 19 of the Washington Constitution by substantially deferring to the actions of the 2008 Legislature in amending the object of the estate tax in a budget bill

where the object of the estate tax had already been established in a separate substantive bill in 2005.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In response to the Washington State Supreme Court decision in *Hemphill v. Dept. of Revenue*, 153 Wn.2d 544, 105 P.3d 391 (2005), the Legislature in 2005 enacted a stand-alone estate tax, codified as RCW Ch. 83.100. The new tax, as with all tax legislation, was required by Article VII, Section 5 of the State Constitution to “state distinctly the object” of the tax, which was declared to “provide funding for education,” Laws of 2005, Ch. 516, Section 1. The Legislation was clear that all proceeds from this new estate tax “*must* be deposited” into the Education Legacy Trust Account, and withdrawals from it “*only* for support of the common schools, and for expanding access to higher education . . . and other educational improvement efforts.” RCW 83.100.220 and .230. (Emphasis supplied.)

In 2008, the Legislature, toward the end of the legislative session, in an addition to budget and appropriations legislation, added the following sentence to RCW 83.100.230:

During the 2007-2009 fiscal biennium, monies in the account may also be transferred into the State General Fund. (CP 190).

In 2009, the Legislature authorized and directed transfer of \$67 million from the Education Legacy Trust Account to the State General Fund. (CP 192-197.)

This state has a history with the estate or so-called “death tax.” In 1980, the voters acting through the initiative process, abolished estate taxes, save for the off-setting credit permitted under federal law.

Designating education as the sole beneficiary of the new estate tax, provided a lofty and noble reason to once again subject citizens to an estate tax. It is highly unlikely that a tax measure of such public import would have been enacted without extensive scrutiny and discussion had it been presented as a way to add tax revenues to the General Fund.

Appellant taxpayers, on behalf of themselves and as representatives of similarly situated taxpayers, sought a declaratory judgment challenging the constitutionality of budget and appropriations legislation which moved \$67 million from the Education Legacy Trust Account to the State General Fund. Appellants contend the legislation and transfer violated Article VII, Section 5 of the Washington State Constitution by diverting estate tax funds from its stated object. All estate tax revenues were to be dedicated to educational funding through the Education Legacy Trust Account. Further,

appellants contend the actions of the Legislature were an unconstitutional violation of Article II, Section 19 of the Washington State Constitution by attempting to temporarily change the object of the estate tax by budget and appropriations legislation.

On cross motions for summary judgment, the trial court entered orders on July 30, 2013 (CP 150-154) and November 8, 2013 (CP 313-317) dismissing appellants' cause of action. A verbatim transcript of the court's initial ruling (June 7, 2013) has been filed in this proceeding. Following oral argument on appellants' motion for reconsideration, on September 9, 2013, the court issued a letter opinion dated October 2, 2013. (CP 305-312.) The Final Order on Motions for Summary Judgment and Plaintiffs' Motion for Reconsideration entered November 8, 2013. (CP 313-317.)

In its "preliminary" ruling of July 30, 2013 (CP 150-154) the court held that Article VII, Section 5 of the Washington Constitution applies to estate taxes. Additionally, the court ruled that notwithstanding Article VII, Section 5, prohibiting diversion of estate tax money from the object of the tax, the Legislature could add a new "object of the tax" through Budget & Appropriations Legislation. (CP 152.)

In its Letter Opinion (CP 305-312) the trial court distinguished constitutionally-based taxes from statutorily-based taxes. According to the court's analysis, if a particular tax was assigned to a constitutionally created destination, the Legislature's ability to redirect those proceeds would be much more limited than in the present case where the Legislature, not the State Constitution, created the object of the estate tax. No authority is cited for this heretofore unknown Constitutional interpretation.

Adopting this distinction and applying the heavy burden of overcoming the presumption of constitutionality of a statute, the trial court deemed plaintiffs' case authority "less relevant." (CP 307.)

Addressing Article II, Section 19 of the Washington Constitution, the court observed that inclusion of a provision temporarily changing the object of the estate tax "deep within an appropriations bill would appear to be a budgetary tactic rooted in fiscal desperation, rather than sound legislative policy making." (CP 311.) Nevertheless, the trial court gave substantial deference to the Legislature and concluded the action of the Legislature satisfied Article II, Section 19.

In short, the trial court ruled that neither Article VII, Section 5 nor Article II, Section 19 of the Washington Constitution were violated when the

distinctly stated purpose and object of the estate tax was temporarily changed by last minute budget and appropriations legislation allowing diversion of \$67 million from the Education Legacy Trust account to the State General Fund.

E. ARGUMENT

1. **Standard of Review.** An appellate court review of a summary judgment order is *de novo*, engaging in the same inquiry as the trial court. Summary judgment should be granted where there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Anderson v. Weslo, Inc.*, 79 Wn.App. 829, 906 P.2d 336 (1995). Where the parties do not dispute the facts, and the sole issue is the proper interpretation of the law, review is *de novo*. *Superior Asphalt & Concrete Co. v. Dept. of Labor & Industries*, 84 Wn.App. 401, 929 P.2d 1120 (1996).

2. **Undisputed Facts.** This case presents the following undisputed facts:

a. The Legislature enacted Laws of 2005, Ch. 516, codified in RCW 83.100, and Section 1 of that Act reads as follows:

The legislature recognizes that on February 3, 2005, the Washington State Supreme Court decided in *Estate of*

Hemphill v. Dep't of Rev., Docket No. 74974-4, that Washington's estate tax is tied to the current federal Internal Revenue Code. The legislature finds that the revenue loss resulting from the *Hemphill* decision will severely affect the legislature's ability to fund programs vital to the peace, health, safety, and support of the citizens of this State. The legislature intends to address the adverse fiscal impact of the *Hemphill* decision and provide funding for education by creating a stand-alone state estate tax. (Defendants' Answer to First Amended Complaint, ¶3.2; CP 328.)

b. The Legislature stated in Laws of 2005, Ch. 516, Section 1, an intent to provide funding for education. (Defendants' Answer to First Amended Complaint, ¶ 3.3; CP 329.)

c. The Laws of 2005 also added RCW 83.100.220, which provides:

All receipts from taxes, penalties, interest, and fees collected under this chapter must be deposited into the Education Legacy Trust Account.

d. The Laws of 2005 also added RCW 83.100.230 which provided:

The Education Legacy Trust Account is created in the state treasury. Money in the account may be spent only after appropriation. Expenditures from the account may be used only for support of the common schools, and for expanding access to higher education through funding for new enrollments and financial aid, and other educational improvement efforts.

e. The Laws of 2008 §329, effective April 1, 2008, added the following sentence to RCW 83.100.230:

During the 2007-2009 fiscal biennium, monies in the account may also be transferred into the State General Fund.

The foregoing amendment to RCW 83.100.230 was not part of the budget bill known as House Bill 2687 as of January 19, 2008. (CP 175-177.)

f. The foregoing amendment to RCW 83.100.230 was added to the budget bill known as House Bill 2687 which was read the first time on February 22, 2008. (CP 179-185.)

g. The Laws of 2008 were enacted during the regular session of the Legislature which adjourned March 13, 2008. (CP 188.)

h. The Laws of 2008, Ch. 329 is entitled "Operating Budget – Supplemental Appropriations. (CP 190.)

i. The transfer of \$67,000,000 from the Education Legacy Trust Account to the State General Fund was made pursuant to "legislative authorization and direction," the Laws of 2009, Ch. 564 "Operating Budget" at § 1702. (CP 64-66.)

j. The "Operating Budget" of 2009 was effective May 19, 2009. Section 1702 directed transfers by the State Treasurer. (CP 192-197.)

k. On June 9, 2009, pursuant to the "Operating Budget"

Laws of 2009, Ch. 564, Sec. 1702, the Treasurer transferred \$67,000,000 from the Education Legacy Trust Account to the General Fund. (CP 64-66.)

l. All estate tax receipts must be transferred to the Education Legacy Trust Account pursuant to RCW 83.100.220 which has not been amended.

m. Receipts from the Estate Tax and receipts from other sources deposited into the Education Legacy Trust Account are commingled. Therefore, the funds transferred from the Education Legacy Trust Account to the General Fund on June 9, 2009 cannot be traced to a particular source. (CP 64-66.)

n. From April, 2008 through May, 2009, \$98.96 million was collected in cigarette tax revenue, \$153 million was collected in estate tax revenue, and the Education Legacy Trust Fund earned \$10.92 million from investments. (CP 103-105.)

o. The balance in the Education Legacy Trust Account on April 1, 2008 was \$292,818,936.42.

p. The balance in the Education Legacy Trust Account on May 19, 2009 was \$144,375,132.94.

q. The balance in the Education Legacy Trust Account on June 8, 2009 was \$128,833,278.36.

r. The balance in the Education Legacy Trust Account on June 9, 2009 after transfer of \$67,000,000 to State General Fund was \$61,833.825.98. (For paragraphs (o), (p), (q) and ® , see CP 199-212.)

3. ***Article VII, Section 5 of the Washington State Constitution Is Applicable.*** Article VII of the State Constitution is entitled “Revenue and Taxation.” It has been part of our State Constitution since statehood in 1889. Section 5 is entitled “Taxes, How Levied.” For Article VII, Section 5 to apply, the controversy must involve a tax. Washington Courts have discussed the definition of taxes to be "burdens or charges imposed by legislative authority on persons or property, to raise money for public purposes, or, more briefly, 'an imposition for the supply of the public treasury.'" *State ex. Rel Nettleton v. Case*, 39 Wash. 177,182, 81 P. 554 (1905).

The courts have made clear that not all demands for payment by government are taxes, but rather state that “if the primary purpose of legislation is regulation, rather than raising revenue, the legislation cannot be classified as a tax even if a burden or charge is imposed.” *Spokane v. Spokane Police Guild*, 87 Wn. 2d 457, 461 533P.2d 1316 (1976).

In the present case it is clear and uncontested that the establishment of the estate tax in 2005 was for the purpose of raising revenue to fund education through the establishment of the Education Legacy Trust. Respondents raise no objection to this claim and admit in paragraph 3.3 of their Answer that “the legislature stated in Laws of 2005, Ch. 516, § 1 an intent to provide funding for education.” (CP 329.) Because the 2005 Legislation had the purpose of raising revenue for the funding of education through the establishment of the Education Legacy Trust Account, it is a tax for purposes of Article VII, Sec. 5 of the Washington State Constitution.

4. *The State violated Article VII, Section 5 of the Washington State Constitution by diverting funds from the Education Legacy Trust Account to the State’s General Fund.* Article VII, Section 5 of the Washington State Constitution states “No tax shall be levied except in the pursuance of law; and every law imposing a tax shall state distinctly the object of the same to which only it shall be applied.” Article VII, Section 5 is clear and unambiguous. It has been uniformly interpreted by our courts to mean (a) the law must state the object of the tax; and (b) use of the tax for any other purpose then stated in the tax legislation is forbidden.

The court first interpreted this Constitutional provision in 1897, when a law directed the Treasurer of Whatcom County to divert funds collected through taxation for building schools towards payment of a local debt. The Supreme Court declared the law to be unconstitutional. Referencing Article VII, Section 5, the Court clearly based its ruling on the fact that “this is an elementary doctrine in taxation, and without the constitutional declaration it has been held almost uniformly that there could be no diversion of monies collected by taxation for a special purpose, and placed in a fund for such purposes. *Sheldon v. Purdy*, 17 Wash. 135, 141, 49 P. 228 (1897).

In *Sheldon v. Purdy*, *supra* at p. 141, the court declared void a state statute which by its express declaration commanded the County Treasurer to pay interest coupons from monies raised by taxation for another purpose. The statutory command was declared unconstitutional under Article VII, Section 5 and therefore void. In the present action, the legislative change to RCW 83.100.230 allowing monies in the Education Legacy Trust Account to be “transferred into the state general fund,” is an unconstitutional provision and therefore void under the foregoing case.

The weight of case law supports appellants’ position. Recently, *Sheldon v. Purdy* was cited in *Sheehan v. Transit Authority*, 155 Wn.2d 790,

804, 123 P.3d 88 (2005). The court referred to the “state distinctly” requirement of Article VII, Section 5 of the Washington Constitution. The court stated that the section is directed not simply to the method of taxation but rather the relationship between the tax and the purpose of the tax, citing, *Sheldon v. Purdy, supra*. In *Sheehan*, the objects of the taxes were a regional transit system plan and the proposed Seattle Monorail. The court stated that Article VII, Section 5 would render unconstitutional actions taken “to divert taxes assessed for those purposes into some wholly unrelated project or fund.” However, in the *Sheehan* case, no such diversion had occurred and thus no constitutional violation existed. In the present action the diversion of funds from the educational purposes established for the Education Legacy Trust Account to the State General Fund is admitted.

In *State ex Rel. Bd for Vocational Educ. V. Yelle*, 199 Wash. 312, 91 P.2d 573 (1939) our court dealt with a legislative enactment appropriating funds from the current school fund for the State Board for Vocational Education. The State Board for Vocational Education presented vouchers to the State Auditor for warrants to be drawn against “the current school fund.” The Auditor determined that the funds had not been incurred for the support of the common schools. The Board sought a writ of mandamus to

compel the Auditor to draw warrants as requested upon “the current school fund.”

It was conceded that the expenses incurred by the Vocational Board were not for the support of the common schools. It was also conceded that the “common school fund” contemplated by Article IX, Sections 2 and 3 of the State Constitution could not be appropriated to any use but the support of the common schools. The court cited *Sheldon v. Purdy, supra* and other authority.

The writ of mandamus was denied. The Court stated in its decision that “to admit the proposition that revenues, once appropriated to the support of the common schools, could subsequently be diverted to other purposes, would be calamitous.” In reaching the decision, the court took language from *Collins v. Henderson*, a Kentucky case, stating “If it be once conceded that an appropriation like this may be sustained on the ground that it is in some degree beneficial to, and is, therefore, in aid of common schools, then the number and amount of such appropriations will be limited only by the discretion of the legislature, and if it so wills, the whole fund may be diverted from the purpose to which it was solemnly dedicated, or rather re-dedicated,

by the constitution, and the constitutional provision prove a mere *brutum fulmen*." *Id.* at 317 (1939).

The court clearly feared the Constitutional erosion that would occur if the legislature is able to run away with the power to raise taxes for a single purpose but divert those taxes to programs for an entirely different purpose for which the tax was raised and approved. It is clear "where money is raised and is payable out of a special fund, the fund in question shall not be called upon to pay any other or different charges, except for those which it is created." *Burbank Irr. Dist. v. Douglass*, 143 Wash. 385, 397, 255 P. 360 (1927) citing *Sheldon v. Purdy*, *supra*.

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