RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Jun 13, 2014, 2:02 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

246641-4

RECEIVED BY

NO. 89603-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WILLIAM E. WALL, ESTATE OF JAMES H. JACK by and through its Personal Representatives, SHARON A. JACK and LINDA R. LEIBICH,

Appellants,

v.

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON acting by and through the WASHINGTON STATE LEGISLATURE and JAMES MCINTYRE, Treasurer of the State of Washington; BRIAN SONTAG, Auditor of the State of Washington; and BRAD FLAHERTY, Director of the Dept. of Revenue, State of Washington,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

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

court, or other provision." *Schreiner Farms, Inc. v. Am. Tower, Inc.*, 173 Wn. App. 154, 159, 293 P.3d 407 (2013) (bracket in original; internal quotation marks omitted). The claim raised here, as explained above, compares to those governed by RCW 4.16.130. Consequently, the trial court should have concluded that a two-year limitation period is reasonable and dismissed this action.

In the alternative, the Estate asserted that "[a]rguably no statute of limitations applies." CP at 115. As support, it cited *Automobile United Trades Organization v. State*, 175 Wn.2d 537, 542, 286 P.3d 377 (2012), for the proposition that "challenges to unconstitutional legislation have never been subject to a limitations period under the UDJA." CP at 114-15. In *Automobile United*, the Court declined to apply laches or a reasonable time limitation to bar a constitutional challenge to the hazardous substance tax that had been in place for 22 years. *Id.*, 175 Wn.2d at 541-43.

The rule announced in *Automobile United* does not negate the application of any statute of limitations or reasonable time limitation to an action challenging the June 2009 transfer. For example, an action filed in 2025 challenging the June 2009 transfer unquestionably would be untimely and should be barred. The proper reading of *Automobile United* is that laches does not bar an otherwise timely action merely because the Legislature long ago passed the statute being challenged on constitutional grounds. Thus, if the Legislature had instead amended RCW 83.100.230 in 2008 to authorize transfers to the general fund without limiting such

transfers to the 2007-09 biennium, and such a transfer occurred in 2024, that the statute had been amended 16 years prior to the 2024 transfer would not bar a *proper* plaintiff from *timely* challenging the 2024 transfer in 2025. But the argument that no statute of limitations applies to the 2009 transfer should be rejected.

In sum, the trial court should have dismissed this action on the basis that it was barred by the applicable statute of limitations.

2. The Estate lacks standing.

The trial court also should have dismissed the Estate for lack of standing. Standing is a threshold issue that is reviewed de novo. *In re Estate of Becker*, 177 Wn.2d 242, 246, 298 P.3d 720 (2013). Without standing, a court lacks jurisdiction to consider a party's claims. *High Tide Seafoods v. State*, 106 Wn.2d 695, 702, 725 P.2d 411 (1986).

Although the trial court dismissed Mr. Wall for lack of standing, it did not grant State Respondents' motion with respect to the Estate. CP at 152. For the trial court, the crucial difference was that the Estate "paid this Estate Tax. ... I find that the heightened connection ... nexus ... between those who have paid the Estate Tax is a line I'm going to draw on standing." CP at 163 (ellipses in original). However, because the Estate did not pay estate tax until almost two years after the June 2009 transfer, CP at 54, that is not a material factor upon which the trial court should have concluded the Estate had standing. The Estate cited the UDJA as the jurisdictional basis for its claims. CP at 15 (¶ 2.1). "A challenge to the constitutionality of a statute by means of a declaratory judgment action must be justiciable before it will be considered." *Snohomish Cnty. v. Anderson*, 124 Wn.2d 834, 840, 881 P.2d 240 (1994). The elements of a justiciable controversy under the UDJA are:

(1) ... an actual, present and existing dispute, or the mature seeds of one, as distinguished from a possible, dormant, hypothetical, speculative, or moot disagreement, (2) between parties having genuine and opposing interests, (3) which involves interests that must be direct and substantial, rather than potential, theoretical, abstract or academic, and (4) a judicial determination of which will be final and conclusive.

Id.; *To-Ro Trade Shows v. Collins*, 144 Wn.2d 403, 411, 27 P.3d 1149 (2001) (internal quotation marks omitted). "Inherent in these four requirements are the traditional limiting doctrines of standing, mootness, and ripeness[.]" *To-Ro Trade Shows*, 144 Wn.2d at 411. Standing primarily relates to the third justiciability element. *See id.* at 411-12; *see also Amalgamated Transit Union Local 587 v. State*, 142 Wn.2d 183, 203, 11 P.3d 762 (2000) (noting that standing tends to overlap justiciability requirements under the UDJA).

The UDJA provides that "[a] person ... whose rights, status or other legal relations are affected by a statute ... may have determined any question of construction or validity arising under the ... statute ... and obtain a declaration of rights, status or other legal relations thereunder." RCW 7.24.020. To have standing under the UDJA, a party must satisfy

two requirements. First, "the interest sought to be protected is arguably within the zone of interests to be protected or regulated by statute or constitutional guarantee in question." *Grant Cnty. Fire Prot. Dist. No. 5 v. City of Moses Lake*, 150 Wn.2d 791, 802, 83 P.3d 419 (2004) (internal quotation marks omitted). Second, the challenged action must have caused economic or other "injury in fact" to the party seeking standing. *Id.* The party challenging the law must also demonstrate that the alleged injury can be redressed through court relief. *See, e.g., High Tide Seafoods*, 106 Wn.2d at 702 (1986) ("for a plaintiff to receive 'standing' to bring a lawsuit, it must allege a personal injury fairly traceable to the challenged conduct and likely to be redressed by the requested relief").

In *To-Ro Trade Shows*, To-Ro filed an action under the UDJA challenging the constitutionality of a statute under which unlicensed dealers could not display their vehicles at trade shows in Washington. The Court upheld an order dismissing To-Ro's action, agreeing that To-Ro, a trade show producer, failed to meet the third justiciability requirement:

To-Ro did not show that its "interests" in the dispute over DOL's enforcement of the dealer licensing statute were "direct and substantial" as opposed to "potential, theoretical, abstract or academic." Under the Act, "[o]ne may not ... challenge the constitutionality of a statute unless it appears that he will be *directly* damaged in person or in property by its enforcement."

Id. at 411-12 (citations omitted, emphasis in original).

Here, the Estate did not allege any direct damage or injury in fact resulting from the challenged transfer. See CP at 14-15 (¶ 1.2). Nor did it allege any involvement with the educational system or that it was harmed

by a presumed loss in available education funding. The Estate did not even allege that the State spent less money on education as a result of the transfer.¹³ Rather, the Estate claimed "as an estate taxpayer, [to] have an interest in the proper appropriation of Washington estate tax receipts for the purposes intended by the Legislature in enacting the tax." CP at 17 (¶ 4.3). The Estate later expanded on that interest through Ms. Jack's declaration alleging that "diverting" estate taxes paid by the Estate to "some unknown general purpose" violated a duty owed to her sister and her. *See* CP at 107 (¶ 5). But the violation of duty Ms. Jack decried could not have occurred because the Estate did not pay estate tax to the State until nearly two years *after* the June 2009 transfer. CP at 54.

The trial court agreed with State Respondents that Mr. Wall lacked standing. CP at 152. Mr. Wall neither alleged nor established that he was damaged in person or in property by the 2008 amendment to RCW 83.100.230 or by the June 2009 transfer. Rather, like the Estate, Mr. Wall merely alleged an interest in the proper appropriation of Washington estate tax and a "deep commitment to constitutional fidelity by the branches of government." CP at 17 (¶ 4.3), 53. That allegation, as the trial court properly concluded, was inadequate to establish the required harm to establish standing. And Mr. Wall did not appeal the ruling.

¹³ The State spent between \$13.6 billion and \$15 billion annually on education from the general fund during fiscal years 2006 through 2012. CP at 68 (\P 6). The Estate offered no evidence establishing that the challenged transfer in any way decreased funding of education. Instead, it merely submitted Sharon Jack's declaration that asserted, without supporting evidence, that the transferred money was "devot[ed] to other general fund purposes, whatever those may be[.]" CP at 107.

The trial court should have dismissed the Estate as well. The one difference between Mr. Wall and the Estate for purposes of standing is that Mr. Wall did not pay any estate tax. But the Estate's payment of tax almost two years after the June 2009 transfer is not a reason to conclude that it was directly or substantially harmed. Like Mr. Wall, the harm alleged by the Estate was, at best, "potential, theoretical, abstract, or academic." *See To-Ro Trade Shows*, 143 Wn.2d at 411-12.

The Estate, having suffered no direct damage or injury in fact, argued to the trial court that it had general taxpayer standing.¹⁴ CP at 117. The Estate relied on *State ex rel. Boyles v. Whatcom Cnty. Superior Court*, 103 Wn.2d 610, 694 P.2d 27 (1985), which it quoted for the proposition that the Court "recognizes litigant standing to challenge governmental acts on the basis of status as a taxpayer." CP at 118 (quoting *State ex rel. Boyles*, 103 Wn.2d at 614). In turn, *Boyles* cited *Calvary Bible Presbyterian Church v. Bd. of Regents*, 72 Wn.2d 912, 917-18, 436 P.2d 189 (1975). *Calvary Bible* demonstrates why the Estate lacks standing.

In *Calvary Bible*, two churches and their ministers sued the Board of Regents of the University of Washington seeking an injunction restraining the Board from offering any course "dealing with the historical, biographical, narrative, or literary features of the bible." *Id.* at 914. The trial court dismissed the churches on the ground they lacked

¹⁴ A prerequisite to bring such an action is that "a taxpayer first request action by the Attorney General and refusal of that request before action is begun by the taxpayer." *State ex rel. Boyles v. Whatcom Cnty. Superior Court*, 103 Wn.2d 610, 614, 694 P.2d 27 (1985). Here, neither Mr. Wall nor the Estate satisfied that condition. Only their attorneys made a request to the Attorney General. CP at 21-23.

standing to sue as taxpayers. *Id.* at 915. The Court affirmed the dismissal of the churches.

The Court first explained:

The traditional approach is that a taxpayer must show that he has a unique right or interest that is being violated, in a manner special and different than the rights of other taxpayers, before he may maintain an action against the state or one of its agencies, to test the constitutionality of a statute or an administrative policy.

Id. at 917; *accord Am. Legion Post No. 32 v. City of Walla Walla*, 116 Wn.2d 1, 6, 802 P.2d 784 (1991). The Court also noted its responsibility to protect the other branches of government from legal actions brought by those whose rights are not affected. *Calvary Bible*, 72 Wn.2d at 917.

Next, the Court frankly acknowledged some inconsistency on its part in determining standing. *Id.* Notwithstanding that inconsistency, the Court stated: "In one field, however, it is rather certain that the plaintiff must at least be a taxpayer." *Id.*; *see also Dick Enters., Inc. v. Metro. King Cnty.*, 83 Wn. App. 566, 573, 922 P.2d 184 (1996) (disappointed bidder had no taxpayer standing where it failed to show "it pays the type of taxes funding the project").

Here, since the Estate did not pay estate tax until May 2011, none of the tax it paid could possibly have been included in the June 2009 transfer. The Estate thus failed to establish that it had a unique right or interest that was violated, in a manner that is different from the rights of other taxpayers. *See Am. Legion*, 116 Wn.2d at 8 (holding, in an action seeking to challenge a city's use of gambling taxes, that the plaintiff

lacked standing where it provided no argument demonstrating it had a unique right or privilege different than other taxpayers that was violated by the city's levy and subsequent use of the gambling tax). Consequently, although the threshold to show "injury" under the doctrine of taxpayer standing is relatively low, the Estate failed to meet it.

In sum, the trial court should have granted State Respondents' motion to dismiss the Estate for lack of standing.

3. This lawsuit is moot.

The trial court, without explanation, rejected State Respondents' argument that the Estate's request for relief is most and thus declined to dismiss on that ground. CP at 152. The trial court erred.

The Legislature amended RCW 83.100.230 in 2008 and, the following year, it directed the transfer of \$67 million from the education legacy trust account into the general fund. Laws of 2009, ch. 564, § 1702. The Legislature limited the transfer authority granted in 2008 to the 2007-09 biennium. Laws of 2008, ch. 329, § 924.¹⁵ The 2007-09 biennium has long since passed, as have the 2009-11 and 2011-13 biennia. The budget and supplemental budget passed during the 2007-09 biennium, and the expenditures undertaken pursuant thereto, cannot be undone. Therefore, the courts no longer can provide effective relief.

¹⁵ In 2010, the Legislature extended the authority to make such transfers to the 2009-11 biennium, Laws of 2010, 1st Sp. Sess., ch. 37, § 953, but it never exercised that authority. See CP at 65 (¶ 3).

Furthermore, the transfer of \$67 million from the education legacy trust fund into the general fund did not impact the State's constitutional duty "to make ample provision for the education of all children." *McCleary v. State*, 173 Wn.2d 477, 514, 269 P.3d 227 (2012). That duty exists regardless of whether education legacy trust account funds or general funds are appropriated to meet it. Thus, granting the relief requested by the Estate—ordering the State Treasurer to transfer \$67 million from the general fund into the education legacy trust account would have no impact on education spending. At most, it would mean that the Legislature would appropriate \$67 million more from the education legacy trust account on education and \$67 million less from the general fund on education.

"A case is moot if a court can no longer provide effective relief." SEIU Healthcare 775NW v. Gregoire, 168 Wn.2d 593, 602, 229 P.3d 774 (2010); see also Cooper v. Dep't of Insts., 63 Wn.2d 722, 723-24, 388 P.2d 925 (1964) (dismissing as moot a challenge to an expired proviso that lowered the maximum permissible income for admission to a veterans' home). In SEIU Healthcare, the petitioner sought an order requiring the Governor to submit a budget that included funding for a 2009-11 collective bargaining agreement. SEIU Healthcare, 168 Wn.2d at 602. The Legislature had adopted and the Governor already had signed the 2009-11 biennial budget. Id. at 603. The Court held that no relief was possible: "This lapse of time has foreclosed the opportunity for

meaningful relief and rendered the writ sought by SEIU ineffective." *Id.* Accordingly, the Court held that the petition was moot. *Id.* at 604.

Here, the transfer of funds from the education legacy trust account to the general fund, and their appropriation, cannot be undone. As of June 9, 2014, five years have passed since the State Treasurer transferred the funds. The transferred funds were spent several biennia ago, and the authorization to spend them expired long ago. *See* Const. art. VIII, § 4 (appropriations are temporary in nature). As such, the lapse of time has foreclosed the opportunity for meaningful relief. "When an appeal is moot, it should be dismissed." *State v. Deskins*, 180 Wn.2d 68, 80, 322 P.3d 780 (2014) (quoting *Klickitat Cnty. Concerned Citizens Against Imported Waste v. Klickitat Cnty.*, 122 Wn.2d 619, 631, 860 P.2d 390, 866 P.2d 1256 (1993)). The Estate's action is moot and the trial court should have dismissed it.

4. Separation of powers prevents the Court from granting the relief the Estate seeks.

The separation of powers doctrine "serves mainly to ensure that the fundamental functions of each branch remain inviolate." *Brown v. Owen*, 165 Wn.2d 706, 718, 206 P.3d 310 (2009). Political and legislative policy questions are not justiciable. *Nw. Animal Rights Network v. State*, 158 Wn. App. 237, 243-45, 242 P.3d 891 (2010); *Nw. Greyhound Kennel Ass'n, Inc. v. State*, 8 Wn. App. 314, 319, 506 P.2d 878 (1973). Legislative decisions about how to fund various obligations involve political questions. *See Wash. Fed'n of State Employees v. State*, 107 Wn.

App. 241, 246, 26 P.3d 1003 (2001) (whether Public Employees Retirement System plan should be declared a trust does not present a justiciable controversy, but rather, is a matter for the Legislature).

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